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April 29, 1975 .

Mr. Larry Snyder, Director
Administrative Resources
Waterman Building Room 354
University of Vermont
Burlington, Vermont 05401

Dear Mr. Snyder:

We are pleased to inform you that the University
Green Historic District has been officially
entered on the National Register of Historic
Places.

If you desire further information regarding
this nomination, please feel free to contact

us.
Sincerely,
A . )
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William B. Pinney ///
NDirector ,

State Historic Preservafion Nfficer
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cc¢: Robert Preston
Arthur R. Hogan, Jr.
FPrank J. Gerred



United States Department of the Interior

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20240

IN REPLY REFER TO:

The Director of the National Park Service

Gary Everhardt

is pleased to inform you that the historic property listed on the
enclosed sheet has been nominated by the State Historic Preservation
Officer responsible for your State's implementation of the National
Historic Preservation Act of 1966, P.L. 89-665 (80 Stat. 915), as
amended. It has accordingly been entered in the National Register
of Historic Places. A leaflet explaining the National Register is

enclosed for your information and convenience,
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WILLIAM B. PINNEY
DIRECTOR

STATE OF VERMONT
AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS
HISTORIC SITES DIVISION
MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602
{802) B28.3226

October 28,- 1974

Dr. William J. Murtagh

Keeper of the Natiocnal Register

The National Regilster of Historle Places
Department of the Interior

National Park Service .

18th and C Streets, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240

Dear Dr. Murtagh:

Enclosed please find a Naticnal Register nominaticn form
for the University Green Historic Distriect, Chittenden
County, Vermont. This property is being submitted under
the Historic Preservation Act of 1966 for inclusion on
the National Register of Historic Places.

Sincerely,

William B. Pinney

Director

State Historic Preservation Officer
WBP:md

Enclosure
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Robert Preston, Burlington Historic
- Sites Committee

Arthur R. Hogan, Jr., Executive Dir.
Chittenden County Regional
Planning Commission

Frank J. Gerred, Cigy Planner,
Planning Commission, Burlington



WILLIAM B. PINNEY

DIRECTOR

STATE OF VERMONT
AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS
HISTORIC SITES DIVISION
MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602
{goz) nze-3226

October 28, 1974

Larry Snyder, Director
Administrative Resources ,
Waterman Building Room 354
University of Vermont
Burlington, Vermont 05401

" Dear Mr. Synder:

We are pleased to inform you that the University Green
Historic District has been submitted to the Office of
Archeoliogy and Historic Preservation of the U.S. Depart-
ment of the Interior for conslderation for entry. on the
National Religster. of Historic Places. Enclosed is an in-
formation leaflet on the National Register and a copy of
the form as submitted to the National Register. Notifi-
catlion of acceptance 6r rejection of the property will
follow. ‘

If you have any questilons, please do not hesltate to con-
tact us.

Sincerely,

Willlam B. Pinney

- Director

State Historic Preservation Officer
WBP:md

enclosure
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CONDITION"

|"extension 'In ‘a northerly. direction of the west property line of

| Street and the westerly right of way line of South Prospect.

1 of Burlington; thence proceeding in an easterly direction for .a

DESCRISE THE PRESENT AND .ORIGINAL (If m)]PHYSECll_ APPEARANCE

Boundary Deseription . |

Beginning at a point A at the interseoction of the center line of]
pavement of Pear] Street and Williams Street; thence proceeding:
in a southerly direction along the center line of pavement of
South Williams Street to agpoint B at the intersection of the
center line of pavement of Main Street; thence proceeding in a
westerly direction along the center line of pavement of Main
Street for a distance of 120 feet more or less to a point C lo-
cated in the center .line-of pavement, said point 1s also the

land owned by the University of Vermont and known as "Grass
Mount" and designated as Number 411 Main Street; thence pro-
ceeding in a southerly direction for a distance of U474 feet
more or less along the westerly property line of land owned by
the University of Vermont as above described to a point D at
the southwest corner; thence proceeding in an easterly direction
for a distance of 276 feet more or less along the southerly pro-
perty line of land owned by the University of Vermont as above
described and extended easterly to a point E located in the
center line of pavement of Summit Street; thence proceeding in 4
-northerly direction for a distance of 292 feet along the center
line of pavement "of Summit Street to a point F; thence proceed-
ing in an easterly direction for @ distance of #15 feet more or
less to a point G located in the westerly right of way line of
South Prospect Street, saild point is located 119.57 feet south-
erly of the intersection of southerly right of way line of Main

Street and is designated as Monument Number 88 on the University
of Vermont coordinate system; thence proceeding in an easterly
‘direction across South Prospect Street for a distance of 418
feet more or less to a point H located in the westerly property
line of land owned by the Clty of Burlington, said point 1is
located 140 feet southerly of the southerly right of way line of
Main Street as measured in the westerly property line of land
‘owned by the City of Burlington; thence proceeding in a souther-
ly direction for a distance of 619 feet more or less along the
westerly property line of land owned by the City of Burlington
to a point I at the southwest corner of land owned by the City

distance of 110 feet more or less along the southerly property
line of land owned by the City of Burlington to a point J at

“the southeast corner of land owned bv the City of Burlinegton;

thence proceeding Iin a northeasterly direction for a distance off
653 feet more or less along the easterly nroperty line of land
owned by the City of Burlington and the easterly property line
extended in a northeasterly directlon to a point 'K in the cen-
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[ 243 'feet more or less to-a point N; thence proceeding in a north-
1 erly direction in a line parallel to and 20 feet easterly of the

‘point S located 22 feet northerly of the north wall of Veotey
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to a point L in the center line of pavement of Main Street; thence
proceeding in a northerly direction in a line parallel to and 20
feet easterly of the east wall of Morrill Hall for a distance ‘of
415 feet more or less to a point M located 20 feet southerly of

the socuth wall of Royall Tyler ‘Theatre Building; thence proceeding
in an easterly direction in a line parallel to and 20 feet south-
erly of the south wall of Royall Tyler Theatre for a distance of

east wall of Royall Tyler Theatre for a distance of 142 feet to a
point O; thence proceeding in a westerly direction in a line
parallel to and 20 feet northerly of the north wall of Royall
Tyler Theatre for a distance of 300 feet to a point P located 40
feet easterly of the east wall of the 0ld Mill Buildlng; thence
proceeding in a northerly direction in a line parallel to and 40
feet easterly of the east wall of the 01d M111 Building for a
distance of 260 feet more or less to a point Q; thence proceeding
in an easterly direction for a distance of 55 feet more or less
to a point R; thence proceeding in a northerly direction in a line
‘parallel to and 25 feet easterly of the east wall of the Williams
Science Building for a distance of U470 feet more or'less to a

Engineering Bullding extended westerly; thence proceeding in an
easterly direction in a line parallel to and 22 feet northerly of
the north wall of Votey Englneering Bullding for a distance of
120" feet more or less to a point T; thence proceeding in a nortn-
erly directlon for a distance of 370 feet more or less to a point
U located in the center line of pavement of Colchester Avenue;
thence proceeding in a westerly direction along the center line
of pavement of Colchester Avenue for a distance of 105 feet more
or less to a point V located at the intersection of the center
line of pavement of Mansfileld Avenue; thence proceeding in a
northerly direction along the center line of pavément of Mansfield
Avenue for a distance of 185 feet more or less to a point ¥;
thence turning an angle of 90° and proceeding in a westerly
direction for a distance of 250 feet more or less to a noint ¥
‘thence proceeding in a northwesterly direction for a Aistance of
283 feét more or less to a point Y located in the northerly right
of way line of North Prospect Street, said point is desizgnated as
Wonument Number 41 on the University of Vermont coordinate vvdtbﬂﬁ
.thénce proceeding in a ‘'southwesterly direction across North Fros-|
pect Street for a distance of 426 feet more or less to a polint -
thence proceeding in a southerly direction for a distancn o” 235
feet more or iess to a polnt AA located 1l the center ios of
pavement of Pearl Street; thence procesding in a westesrly di;bc—
tion fnr a Afstance af 278 feat mare or less alone the Wantarn
1ina of paverent of Pearl Dtrest £a tha palnt Af hecdnntne,
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' \gsical Description

The University of Vermont Green is a long, slightly irregular
rectangle of a park at the centeér of the main campus. Four roads
form 1ts boundaries: two east/west arteries, Colchester (Pearl)
-and Main Streets; and two north/south arteries, South Prospect
and University Place. The -university and city buildings which
line these streets face the green from all four sides. These
‘structures and the park they surround comprise the University
Green Historic District. .

The Green 1s treed and crisscrossed by paths, many of which radi-
ate from the large fountaln and pool located at its center.
Benches and statues are scattered across its rolling surface. ’
Because 1its eastern side is consliderably higher than the western
side, the park provides a dramatic topographic pedestal for the
buildings along University Place. As a group, these buildings
sitting along thils rise represent the most outstanding architec-~
ture at the University. Although they range in date from 1825 to
.1926 and represent a variety of types of institutional buildings,
‘they are similar enough in design, scale, placement, materlals
and detalling to form a highly coherent group. At the eastern
end of this group, on the corner of University Place and Main

the Green from Main Street. This pair serves to define the cor-
ner of the Green.

A second group of buil&ings-simil&r in style, form, scale, place-
ment and fabric is formed by the domestic structures west of
Pomeroy Hall along Main, arcund the corner along South Prospect
as far as Alumni House and along the entire length of South
Williams Street which runs parallel to and west of South Prospect|

The third visual unit consists of the buiidings along South P}os-
pect north of Alumni, around the corner to Colechester (Pearl),

The Baird Institute of the DeGpesbriand Hospital and John Dewey
Hall - dominate the group but are 1nterspersed with a number of
buildings on a domestic scale,

These three visual groups of bulldings around the perimeter of

physically to relate structures across the park from each other,

Street, Morrill Hall relates visually to Pomeroy Hall which faces |

Three large, twentieth century institutional buildings - Waterman;

the Oreen weork together to define 1t 25 2 distinect area, Similaris
1 the series of paths crcssing the Green serve, both visually and

v
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Hence, the University of Vermont Green is the site of a number of
buildings which are highly distinctive architecturally and which
set up a number of highly complex visual and stylistic relation-
ships among themselves. .

Group I:' Ira Allen Chapelstands at the northeast corner of the
Breen on University Place. 1Its plan takes the form of a Latin
cross, 50 feet by 135 feet, with 46 feet wide transepts extending
20 feet 6 inches on either side of the main body. The walls of .
‘| the bullding, constructed of local brick laid in English bond,
stand 40 feet. The chapel's most impressive facade - a full
temple gable front, six columns wide with full entablature and
pediment - faces the Green. A low, hexagonal dome which is capped
with a gilded lantern surmounts the crossing. A bell tower rises
170 feet from the northwest corner of the intersecting nave and
transept. Eight foot clock faces are set into each of the four

.| sides of the tower Jjust below the bell. At night, the beacon
flashing from the tower's peak provides a landmark for those
approaching Burlington via road or Lake Champlain. '

The structure's detailling and its materials - brick with woodwork
painted white - are typical of the Georgian Revival'work of the

firm of McKim, Meade and White of New York at the date of 1ts con-
struction, 1926.

Behind the chapel to the northwest, facing Colchester Averiue (Pearl)
is a two-and-a-half story rough stone structure known as Mansfield
House. Deslgned and built as a residence for professors In 1591,
the ‘structure has an irregular floor plan and is interesting for
1ts. combination of materials - stone and the stucco and wood of

half timbering. : ‘

p ,
. rd
Behind the chapel to the west 1s the! 0ld Art. Building. Originally
thils structure was a two story brick block measuring 40 by 60 feet|.
As the University's library and second major liberal arts bullding
it was given a prominent location facing the Green on University
Place when it was erected in 1862, Eleven years later a third
story and mansard roof were added, In 1895 the structure was moved
to its present location so that Williams Seience Hall could be.con
structed on 1ts site. In the move:the bullding was turned 90 de-
grees so that it now faces south instead of west. A few years
later a two story wing was added to the east side and a year later
tHenry LeGrand Cannon had the single story wing added to the west
wall to house the collection he was bequesting to the Universityv
museum. wWnen, .in 1942, the building became tne studio art center,
skylights were installed in the roof. The structure has retained
1te partianlarly fine ragt i1ron honadmanide
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| of rusticated Longmeadow sandstone set in regular ashlar with a

{ The main, west, portal 1s dominated by an arched entranceway set

-belfry. From the southwest corner of this porch a wing extends
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South of the chapel‘and next in the lin f buiidings facing the
.Green from University Place 1is illin 5.. An imposing structure

slate roof, Blllings exemplifles the style named for its architect,
"Richardsonian Romanesque."” H. H. Richardson designed this strucH
ture and its furnishings between 1883 and 1885. It was named in
honor of its donor, Frederick Billings. . '

within a gable and flanked by two corner towers. The northern tower
is larger in scale and height than the southern and has an open

southward and intersects with a large polygonal apse which was onde
the library's main reading room. Similarly, a rectangular wing ex-
tends northward from the northwest corner of the poreh. Originally,
this wing was shorter, but in 1889 it was extended 25 feet to the | -
north. A 40 foot square room was added to the rear of the struc-
ture during the same building program,

Billings 1s an outstanding bullding in its 1nterior and exterior
‘detalling and in its superb spacial relationships. Each room of
the structure rises a full two storles at the center with balconlgs
surrounding the sides. An almost continuous band of clierestory é,

windows provlides light for these balconles and creates the illusidn
of lightening the rcof. The result of this design is the sensaticdn

| that great volumes of space cluster around the central space of tHe

‘building, the "living" or entrance hall, Both the organization o
space and this room with its monumental carved and hocded fireplaqde |
and inglenooks opposlte the front door and its large, open entrancge-
ways into the subsidiary rooms are typical of architectural design
in the 1880's. The staircase which one would expect to find in tHe
1iving hall of this type of plan was origlinally visible through a
series of large stepped arches on the northwest wall of the room,
These open arches were later plastered over,

In 1961 the library volumes were moved to a new building and
Billings became the University's student center. The basemant of
the building was remocdeled in 1971 by Burlington Assoclates.

The next bulldjng to the south along University Place,ié/Williams
Seience Hall Its plan 1is a cruciform with the front (west)’ o
so shortened that 1t appears to he no mare than a slichtly nro.
Jeceting pavilion, On this plan a seventeen bay, three-and-a-hzlf
story brick elevation rises 90 feet from a rusticated rranite
foundation. The fenestration changes at each level. The basementg
windows take the form of pairpd narrow rectangles; on tne fix)u '
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tracery and are set within an arcade, while the thirad rloor windows
are set within an intertwining arcade, supported by ornamental

terra cotta columns.

The central pavilion of the bullding is dominated by two arches:
the large entrance arch outlined by ornate archivolts rises to the
height of the first story; a larger, broader arch encloses the
| three central bays and almost f1lls the gables. Between these twqg
| arches are three stories of windows corresponding in form to the
windows on the main block of the building. The pavilion 1s
abundantly decorated with terra cotta ornament including three
medallions contalning relief portraits of three men of Amerlcan
Science - Agassiz, Morse and Henry. . :

Eight dormers at two levels break the outline of‘the steeply
pitched slate roof. The ridge line of the rocf 1s crowned by a
cupola at the mid point of each of the three wings.

Although Williams Science Hall 1s considerably larger than Billings,
the greater delicacy of Williams' "Gothic" detall tends to countern-
act the difference. Furthermore, in terms of overall design, the
detalls of the two buildings - the bold entrance arches, the
arcaded bands of windows - ald in relating the two bulidings. The
relationship between Williams and its neighbors, Billlings and the
014 Mill, was hardly accldental. The administration, wishing to
create a "true University row," selected this site for the new
structure and had the 0l1d@ Art Bullding moved to fulfill the plan,

Williams Science Hall was designed by Wilson:Bros. and €o., Civil
Engineers and Architects of Philadelphia in 1894 and was erected
by a Philadelphlia construetion firm, Stacy, Reeves and Sons.

" | Wilson Bros., who'also designed the Masonic Temple in Burlington,
| based Williams "on broad principle" on Ruskin's design for the:
O0xford Museum in London.

South of Williams stands the”é&d Mill. V/éhe long horizontal facadi
of this three-and-a-half story brick building is broken by three
large projecting, gabled pavllions - one at the center and one at
either end. The recessed arched panels, three bays wide and four
storiles high, contained in each pavillon facade as well as the
bu}llding's fabric relate it directly to Williams Secilence Hall.
‘These pavilion arches are also related to the smaller arched main
doorways surmounted by gables at Williams, Billings and the 014
Mill's neilghbor to the south, the 0ld Gym,
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staln glass windows are elongated and vertically span more than o
floor. The increased space between the top of the arch and the p
of the gable allows room for a group of three arched windows.

Directly above this middle pavilion, at the center of the slate rg
sites an open belfry topped by a steeple. The two flanking pavili
are shorter, narrower and shallower but similar in overall design.

As 1t appears today the 0l1d Mill 1is the product of many remodeling
The original Old Mill was erected on this site in 1801-2 through
donations by local citizens. It was the University's first acadenm
bullding. When it was destroyed by fire in 1824,a complex of thrd
brick structures bullt on line with one another, seven to twelve
feet apart was erected. The gaps between the buildings were de-
signed as security against loésing the entire Unlversity plant to
fire. A gilded dome crowned the central building. In 1846 the
gaps were fllled in to form the bays that now appear as the
pavilions. In 1881 the dome was removed and a year later the en-
tire bullding was reconstructed on the plans of J.J.R. Randall of

-stories...front wall broken up by projections at elther end, chapsg
extended both front and rear...blank walls at the north and south
side pilerced by windows and doors." Although sections of the

building had to be rebuilt after a fire in 1918, and the interior

the 01d M1lll owes its present appearance to that buildlng program,

The "college row" on the eastern side of the green can be viewed
as an ordered group of six paired buildings with the two most
closely related structures - Willliams Science Hall and the 0ld
Mill - serving as the central palr. Their flanking structures -
Billingiéand the 0Nl1d Gym - form the second palr. Both Billings
and theWld Gymvare representative of 19th century Romanesque;
both facades are dominated by large arched doorways surmounted by
a row of five windows within a gable; both are constructed on
similar scales with similar materials, However, while the sub-
sldiary spaces at Blllings are wings set at right angles to the
main section of the building, those at the 01d Gym take the form
of single story alsles with clerestories and hence refer to.
medieval Tuscan basilicas. The ornamented brickwork of the
arched entranceway 1is set into the wall, recessed beshind this
principal arch.

tion in 1301, Andrews, Jdacques and Rantoul were the architects.
Originally, the building measured 99 by 140 feet. In 1915 A.L.

The central pawilion is slightly taller than the two end ones. Iﬂs

has been renovated _a number of times since the’ 1882 3 remodeling,

The structure was erected in stone on a brick and‘conarete founda-+
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Rutland. This building program included: the addition of "severgl
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| Wwhile the four central buildings &it" n "college row" can be easil]

‘lpair of windows in the shape of a aquarter oval to 'either side of

(Number all entries) o ‘
The building's strange location, out of line with the rest of the

buildings along University Place, is explained by the fact that the

University did not own the land to the south at that time, In
fact, in order to have the bullding face west as its neighbors do,
it was necessary to purchase a small strip of the adjacent corner |
lot.

From 1its construction in 1901 until 1927, when the city erected
Memorial Auditorium, the building played a dual role as a Universl
and c¢ivic cultural center. It was the scene of University convoca
tions, public concerts, balls, plays and the home of the Burlingtd
Symphony Orchestra, When the University built a new gym in 1963,
the bullding was remodeled to accomodate the ROTC program and vari
ous offices., In 1973-74 the interior was again reworked on the
plan of Burlington Associates to serve as theatre. ‘

sorted into visually related pairs,VMorrill HallvPelates to the.
Chapel only through the classical detalls of the upper two floors
and the central projecting, gabled pavilion. Morrill is construct
on a concrete and random ashlar foundation. Its maln block extend
three bays to either side of the central pavilion. The first flod
is architecturally treated as a podium and is articulated by six
projecting bands of five bricks each. From this base rise two
stories of brick articulated at the corners in’ the form of broad
pilasters and above the third floor windows in the form of a
narrow. cornice. The hip roof with flared eaves 1s tiled.

Morrill Hall was erected 1904~7 on the designs of a New York
architect, €., W. Buckham, and named in honor of Justin Smith
Morrill, author of the Land Grant College Act.

The facade of Morrill Hall is not precisely'on line with.the othen

major structures along University Row. Rather, it faces slightly
toward the south and opens the corner of the Green area to visuall

include the City of Burlington's.Main Street Pumping Station.,” Thils

is a small, one story brick structure on a stone foundation. 1In
plan, 1ts basilc unit 1s a rectangle with 2 square tower breaking
off the east wall and an ell breaking off the south wall.

In elevation, the Main Street facade of the principle rectangular
unit is plerced by a door, slightly to the east of center; by a

the door; and by a third small window slipghtly to the west of
center. Tne bold design of the fenestration and the unusual bricjy
work which emphasizes it 1s the bullding's most distinctive featur
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outer lower corner of each of the two quarter oval'windows"flanking

course drops directly downward, continues to outline the windows
for a short distance; then each slde turns a right angle toward thle
door and moves horizontally to .the door frame, turns a right angle
upward and outlines the door until the two sides of the course meet

circle is found 1in the brick course around the triple windows on
the west side of the bullding. This unit is capped by a slate roof
with flared gables.

The- tower rises two stories. Its Main Street facade 1s pierced by
a centrally placed door with a semi-tircular light, A pent roof
encompasses the tower between its first and second floors at the
cornice level of the main structure. On the second story, in a

verticle line with the door, is a round window elaborated with the
same ‘type of brickwori that surrounds the main door and windows,
A sharply pointed roof of scalloped slate caps the tower,

The pump house was erected by the city when the Main Street.
Reservoir opened in 1867,

West of the Pump House on Main, facing the Green igfgomergy Hallq
The essentlally square form of this four story brick structure is
broken by a projecting central pavilion. This pidvilion 1is formed
by a square stairtower. Visually, 1t is dominated by the verticall
column of door and window openings: the lines of the first floor
door with its segmental arch are continued in the elongated two-
and-a~half story window with a semi-circular top. This column is
set within a recessed panel of the same configuraticn whiech is,
in turn, set within a recessed rectangular panel almost as large
as the facade of the structure.

A single bay of windows 1s set to elther side of the stairtower.
These windows decrease 1in height at each floor level. A cornice
with sawtooth corbelling along its lower edge runs around the

entire building, interrupted only by the corner pilasters of the
stairtower, the fourth floor windows and the exterior chimney on
the west side of the structure. Three ells, each one story shorter
than the other, have been added on the rear of the building.

As the second oldest bullding constructed specifically for the
University, Pomeroy's history has heen as uneven as it is loneo,
When it was built by "publie sririted" Burlinetonians as the

medical college in 1829,hit was only two stories., The water cures
jand neaitn taas ol tne losu's and LdDdU's caused the medical Schody
jto po bankrupt and cinse in 1436, Phyainz and chemistry clasasscas |
i : : o :
- : (cantinued on Conptinuation Sheet #49) J

G U dehef e

the door. At the upper inside corners of the two windows, the brigck

above the door in an arch., The overall shape which the brick course
L conveys is an elaborated half c¢ircle. A similar, unbroken half
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took over the building until 1853 whern classes 'in mediclne resumed.
Five years later the third floor, the amphitheatre, the stairtower
with a cupola and the three story brick ell were added.. The
second ell was added in 1870. In 1887 the structure was reassigned
as an experimental agricultural station and within two years was :
renovated: the amphitheatre was removed, the third floor divided
into two floors. With the completion of Morrill Hall the experi-
mental station moved out and the building was abandoned for six
years. It was reinhabited and a third ell was added in 1920, Flye
| years later the cupola was removed and the interior remodeled. The
interior has seen a number of updatings and new inhabltants in the
last twenty years..

Group II: Pomeroy's neighbors to the.west and northwest around
the Creen represent varlous phases of ¥9th century domestic archl+
tecture. Immediately to the west is 481 Main Street”(presently the
Classics, Philosophy and Religion Building). The front elevation
of this two-and-a-half story structure is dominated by a tall tower
on the northwest with an onion dome., This bold form is balanced by
the northeast side of the front elevation which projects toward
the Green and which contains a large, semicircular bay window
surmounted by a single central window on the second floor and a
dormer on the third. The first floor of the structure consists of
irregularly laid, rusticated sandstone; the remainder of the
building is sheathed in half timbering. A shingled roof flows
continuously over the entire irregular surface of the roof area.
Its planes are interrupted by a number of interior chimneys and
dormers.

v’

This building's neighbor to the~West,Vﬂ}9 Main Street, 1s suffi-
ciently similar in scale, materials and design to indicate that
the two structures were designed as a pair, Like 481, 479 Main 1
constructed of rusticated sandstone on the first floor, woocd on
the second and has a shingled roof. While 481 had a gabled projeg-
tion on the eastern corner of the northern facade, 479 has a
similar projection on the western corner. In 479, the projection
is balanced by a boldly arched entranceway emphasized by employing
darker stone. On the second floor, directly above this arch, is
.a gable with an arched ornamental truss and pendant.

-+

Both buildings were designed for the University by a Philadelphiaj
architect in/1890 and built on land and with funds donated by J.H}|
Converse. L/Allen Housel to the west of 479 llain, on the south=ist
corner of Main and South Prospect, was built as a home by a Mr,
Boardman about 1815. At some time hafare 1833, it served ns 2
University common. Not long afterwards, it passed batk inmto pri-
vate hands and wasn't reacquired by the University until the 20th
century. : - : : :

[}
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| or early 20th century remodeling, a bay window was added to the

1 1950's 1t was the home of writer Margaret L.H. Smith who moved

| Studies Program.
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Originally, this two-and-a-half story; five bay'wide, frame house
was a simple rectangle capped by a hip roof. During a late 19th

northwest corner, and a large porch was bullt onto the east. A
pair of dormers now break the simple line of the roof. Recently
the building was sheathed with aluminum siding. -

South Prospect and Main stands ittersweet;” The main block of
"Bittersweet" is a two-and-a-ha storied, three bay structure
with a-stone foundation and a gable roof made of slate. A single
.interior end chimney on the south pierces the roof. From the
southern end of this block stretches a one-and-a-half story wooder
recessed wing with an ell.

Across the street from Allen Ho};{? on the southwest corner of
T

The facade .of the structure is very simple: a one story, one bay, °
entrance porch with a pediment resting on columns and a bay windoﬂ
at the south corner of the main portion of the structure ornament
the facade of the main block. A one story wooden porch Tills the
intersection of the main section and the wing. Two dormers break
‘out from the rcof above this wing. At the rear of the building
there 1is a two story wooden porch. )

The building was constructed in the early 19th century as a home
and trading post for Thaddeus, Tuttle. During the 1940's and

the "Bittersweet" plaque from her Spear Street farmhouse (no
longer standing) and mounted 1t on the front of this structure.
Today, the bullding serves as headquarters for the Environmental

Across Main Street from "Bittersweet" on the northwest corner is
jheeler House .Y Together these - two structures define the corner
of the Green. A two story brick structure, the main body is a
cube measuring three bays on every side except the north where a
long, two story ell extends. A hip roof, plerced by two interior
chimneys and topped with a2 balustraded dQCK caps the bullding's
geometric form.

The principie facade (southern) of Wheeler House is dlstingulshed
by a handsome porch. Enclosing the central doorway, thils porch
consists of elegantly pronortinned columns with Corinthian
capitals supporting a full entablature. The door 1tself 1s tall
and surrounded by side and transom lights. A second, one story
‘wooden porch has been added to the western end ol the structure,

. ) R .
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When Wheeler House was designed by Ammi Young in 1844 it was in-
tended to serve both as a private residence for the president of
the University and as a residence with meeting rooms for students.
In 1944 the building was acquired from the Wheeler family for a
University infirmary. .

‘Thg/Counseling and Testing Serviceyg;ilding stands to the south-
west of Wheeler House on Main Street but fronts on South Williams
Street. A two-and-a-half story, gable end front, brick building
with ells, 1t measures three bays across 1ts principle facade.

The structure's form and detalls - the door with its side and fan
lights surmocunted by a full entablature, the granite window sills
and the full height corner pllasters -~ identify 1t as Greek Revliva

fine group of 19th and early 20th century domestic structures alon
South Williams between Main and Colchester (Pearl) Streets. To-
gether these two blocks of buildings represent a wide sampling of
the directions domestic buildings took during the period. Most of
‘the structures on the eastern side of the street are now Unlversit
buildings. Those.on the western side are fraternitles or privatel
owned, All have maintalned the appearance, scale and setting of
private homes.

/4aumni House, north of Wheeler House and facing South Prospect
forms the northern boundary of the group of predominantly domestilc
structures. This two-and-a-halfl story, brick, neo-Colonial home
bullt in 1895 was purchased by the University in the 1350's.

The structure sits on a random ashlar foundation with a granite
water table. Its brick is lald in running bond with a more elab-
orate pattern in the area of the windows. The cornice 1s wooden
with carved ornaments in the form of garlands and dentils. The
asphalt shingle roof 1s topped with a balustraded deck and pilerced
by three interior chimneys.

The form of the building 1s essentially that of a cube with an
attached ell. A number of curved window bays, dormers and a porech
which wraps from the midpoint of the South Prospect Street side tdg
the midpoint of the College Street side break out from thils cubles
form.

The Counseling and Testing Service building is the earliest of the

1.
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Group III: Northwest of Alumni House, at the midpoint of that

section of South Prgspect Street which faces the Green, and facing

University row, is;Watermany the University's main administrative

| building. A very large, two-and-a-half story, brick, Colonial

Revival structure, Waterman's composition consists of a principle
rectangular unit with a central pavilion, extended on both sides
by a pair of short symmetrical wings which intersect with a pair
of projecting pavilions. 1In plan the building would resemble a
stubby H except that the projecting central pavilion in front '

(east) and its counterpart, a projecting pavilion with a one story .

rounded bay, interrupt the eross bar at midpoint. | .

‘Waterman's detailihg, materials and basic forms relate it stronglﬁ

to its neighbors to the south, Alumni House and Wheeler House.
Its designers - the firm of McKin, Meade and White - must have
taken these two bulldings into account when they designed Watermar
in 1941. The bullding relates to its northern neighbors at the
corner of the Green, DeGoesbriand Hospital on the southwest cornern
of South Prospect and Colchester (Pearl) and John Dewey Hall on
the northeast corner in size, scale and materials.

‘Sandwiched between the large forms of Waterman and Defoesbriand,
two of the domestic structures whigh, like Alumni House, once
lined South Prospect remain. TheMath Building“{41 South Prospeect
which sits next door to Waterman was once quite.similar to its
neighbor to the north, theiSoeiolozy Buildingk” Both are 1810 to
1820, two-and-a-half story, Tive bay frame houses set with their
long axls parallel to the road. However, at some point in the
1880's or 1890's the Math Building was stylistically updated,
greatly enlarged, and became a two family house. Today, it appeax
that the original house intersects a three-and-a-half story gable
end to the road structure at the ridge line of the roof. On the
front of the building, a pair of two story window bays supporting
pediments on brackets were added to either side of the first floor
porch sheltering the palr of doors, This porch is surmounted by
'a second, somewhat smaller porch with a smaller ornamented pedimer

| A fourth pediment, also ornately carved, rises above and behind

‘this one in the roof gable of the addition. This rich c¢arving,
found in all four pediments, plays against the patterned scroll
work of the porches. Unfortunately, the equally rich and varied
shingling ~ a wave pattern on the bays, scallops in the highest .
front pediment and the pediment and sides of the supports of the
whimsical gable balcony in the rear - and its interplay with the
other patterns and textures was lost in 1974 when the house and
its shingles were covered with aluminum sidines. Fortunately, the

| pediment and porches.were not covered. .

bt .
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" Building) is as large and overpowering in comparison-as the Math

Next door, the Socioc}ogy Building has retained more of its early
19th century character. A two story .enclosed porch extends the -
bullding's basic rectangular form on the north end, and a one
story enclosed porch extends it to the south, The half crescent
windows flanking the interior and chimneys as they pass through
each gable are similar to those on the Math building. The semi-
circular fanlight has remained abave the central front door which
is sheltered by a pedimented porch supported by two freestanding
columns. : '

The Soclology bullding's neighbor to the north, thé/g;ird Institu]

L YLl
o

Center for Disorders of CommunicationsV(DeGoesbriand Hospital

building's rneighbor to the south, Waterman. Like Waterman, Baird
design 1s based on three projecting pavilions linked by wings
which are parallel to the road. Baird's pavilions are shallower
than those at Waterman. Only the central one extends 1lnto an ell
in the rear. ' - .

The bullding was constructed in 1925 as the Bishop DeGoesbriand
. Hospital. Behind and above the one story brick and granite porch
which was added to the central doorway at a later date, one can
8till see the original name carved in granite. Today 1t 1s part
of the larger DeGoesbriand Hospital complex that has grown up

behind 1it. :

Directly across Pearl (Colchester) Street from one of the hgspital's

newer units is one of Burlington's/finest early homes, theVMoore-

L\ &0 ‘
o}'""i}"“:\Wt‘mdbuzz‘,\r House (416 Pearl Street)’ Built about 1815, this elegantly

| proportioned brick house sits long axis parallel to the road on a

stone foundation. Its plan is that of a rectangle with a large el}

‘off the rear. Two late 19th century additions -~ an oriel window

on the eastern end wall and a two story wood porch on the western

end wall, which may have replaced an earlier porch, break out of
the rectangular format.

Five bays span the front of the structure., The central bay which
contains the door is treated as a pavilion and is topped with i1ts
.own arched roof. Granite stairs with inverted brackets at the
level of the landing lead up to the pavilion and to a pair of
carved paneled doors surmounted by a large granite lintel. A
flat roofed porch supported by heavy, carved wooden brackets in
turn supports a fenced baleony onto which the second floor Trench
doors open. These doors are finished at the top with a light 1in
the form of a segmental arch, A marble hoodmould surmounts the
FPrench doors. * .
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| windows with thelr plain stone sills and flush headers are more

| associations as for 1its architecture. From 1886 well into the

|balconies. At this level, the eaves on either side of the chimney

(Nuambar sti mﬂu}

| The hoodmould, the door, the brackets above and below the door and

those which were along the ralsed brick cornice until they were re
moved in 1972 were added at a later date, perhaps in 1886 when
Urban A. Woodbury purchased the-house, The first and second floor

Andicative of the house's original appearance. At the cornice

level where the brick is raised, four quarter windows are tucked
beneath the eaves of the low hip. roof. The contour of the roof's
overhang appears to have been altered. A second hip roof with a

left front chimney with its corbelled top and a smaller right rear
chimney. Nelther are criginal.

The Moore-Woodbury House is as outsténding for its historical

20th century it was the home ¢of Urban Woodbury, Mayor of Burlingtd
and Governor of Vermont. A bronze plagque on the front of the
bullding records that during Woodbury's tenancy three Presidents
‘of the United States were entertained in the home: William McKinl
in 1897; Theodore Roosevelt in 1902; and William H, Taft in 1900.
Today the building is divided into apartments.

Adjacent to the Moare-Woodbury House, on the corner of Coltchester
(Pearl) and Prospect, 1s thevlamda Iota Fraternity House?Y Like it
neighbor, Lamda Iota 1s a two-and-a-half story brick structure wid
its long axis parallel to the road. Its general style would best
be described as Colonial Revival., It was constructed in 1913.

The bullding 1s dominated by a twe story tolonaded portico which
spans the entire seven bay front. Eight Doric columns support the
roof. Behind these columns, the tall, granite silled, 4/6 windows
of the first floor flank a very large central doorway with a trans
light. Above the full portico, three rounded dormers break out of
the pitched roof. .

On the east and west end walls of the bullding are huge double end
chimneys with the spaces between each pair infilled. These domina
the proflle of the structure. At the first floor level of these €
walls are one story porches supported by triple Doric columns; on
the second floor are larce arched windows wlth shallow balustraded

are fl1lled with stone.

flattened peak surmounts the asphalt shingle surface of the first. .
Four interiocr end chimneys must have once been visible in the roofl
of the main block of the structure. Today, two are visible - the |
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Lamda Iota's neighbor to the east,“John Dewey Hallg/occupies the
northeast corner of the Colchester (Pearl) and Prospect Street
intersection at the northern head of the Green, A large rectangul
brick building, three stories above the water table and a full std
below, its size and scale relate it more closely to the Baird
(DeGoesbriand) building and Waterman than to its other neighbors.
Llke these others, 1t 1s a horizontal building with its long axis
| parallel to the road. Llke the others, 1t has a central, projecti
pavilion containing the entranceway. At Dewey Hall a two story
porch rises on two Ionic columns in front of the decor. Above the
porch, on the third floor of the pavilion, 1s a granite plaque
carved with "University of Vermont, College of Medlcine 1825 1905,
Square windows with a crisscross pattern flank the plaque.

When the buillding was erected in 1905, it served as the medical
college. Its original purpose was, no doubt, partly responsilble
for the structure's size and scale. Today, 1t houses the Psycholg
Department.

To the northeast of John Dewey, at¥2 Colchester Avenuéf/is a thres
story, six bay wide, two bay deep frame house and ell on a rubble
foundation. An asphalt shingle hip roof with a three bay shed
dormer centered on the front caps the structure. A single, off-
centered interior chimney pierces this roof. The four central
bays of the structure are framed by a4 one story porch with plain
wooden columns, railings and stickwork, .

Tis structure has 1ong claimed to be the oldest frame house in
Burlington, erected in 1789. It would seem more likely that some

ing is of a somewhat later date. The University acauired and re-
modelled the building in 1915, Today 1t houses Special Education.

Next door to the east, across Colchester Avenue from Mansfield
House is the last bullding fully visible from the Green. It 1s a
tall, three-and-a-half story, gable freont, frame building with a
tower intersecting its southwest corner. A two story porch with
wooden railings and scroll work at the top of the columns screens
the entire three bay span of the front of the bulildinr. This
structure provides a fine, vertically orilented visual boundary
for the Green District.

part of it was built in 1789, but that the main body of the build-
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Located on the southwest corner of Summer and Main Streets is
"Grassmount," a 2%-story, Federal style house of brick load bear-
ing construction with a hip roof; roof balustrade, cupola, paired

Erected in 1804 by Thaddeus Tuttle, "Grassmount" was later the
residence of Cornelius P. Van Ness, Governor of Vermont from

1823 to 1826. '"Grassmount' is one of the finest and most elabo-
“rate examples of a larfge Adamesque-Federal style mansion in
Vermont and is one of the outstanding landmarks in the architec-
turally and stylistically r1ch University district of the city of
Burlington. .

"Grassmount" was entered on the Natmnal Reg1ster of Historic
Places on April 11, 1973. :

interior chimney stacks, and an elaborate facade five bays across.|
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CIETATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

When the Green was given to the University in 1791 by its founder,
Ira Allen, the motivation for: the gift was somewhat suspect. His
intentions for the use of the land, however, became clear in hip
1801 letter of protest to the trustees:

"I have observed that you are about to erect buildings
on lands that have been appropriated for a publie
green to contribute both to the convenience, elegance
and use of the University of Vermont."

Allen's complaint, heeded by the trustees, brought about the

single most important decision affecting the University's

appearance and layout - the establishment of a central park

plan. Because the University Green Historic District encompasses

this large area with its many structures, its significance is

multi-faceted. Overall, however, it functlons exaectly as Allen
hoped it would.

I N § TRUCTIONS

Architecturally, the distriect is invaluable and unusual for the
visual coherence it achieves despite the disparity of bullding
size and styles. A number of the buildings - those of "Universitj
row," the Pump House, Pomeroy Hall, Wheeler House or the Moore-{
Woodbury House - could rest simply on the merits of their designs.
Within the format of a district these architecturally outstanding
structures become even more lmportant. A quarter of the buildings,
the "University row" group, situated on the east edge of the Green
and at the crest of Burlington's hill, form the city's skyline.|
Billings is the only structure designed by architect H.H. Richard-
son in the state. . l

SEE

| The area around the green has served as the primary focus for
higher education in Vermont for almost two centurles. The dis-|
trict, significant as the nucleus of the main campus and the I
midpoint hetween the two units of the Medical Center complex,
RO ' 'is also a primary route for pedestrian traffiec. Contiguous with
both of the two east-west transportation corridors, Routes 2 and
‘Jrj o Y, 1t is part of two of the four major automobile traffic routes
" | hetween (owntown Rurlineoton and the rest of the state, i

o trontinned An Pantivnmatison Sheet #IRY . i
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Finally the district is significant as a resource to the Unlversif
and to the City. The bulldings function as a visual testimony of
the University's history. For example, Billings, Willlams Sciencsq
Hall, Mansfield House and 479 and 481 Main are the architectural

scorecard for a rivalry between three alumnil from Woodstock. At

various times, 1n varlous ways, the district has played an impor-
‘tant role in the social history of Burlington. 1In the early 19th

contributed toward the building of Pomeroy as a medical school in
1829. For many years the 0l1d Gym served as Burlington's civic
center. ~ Today the hospital brings people from the entire north-
western Vermont/upstate New York region to the Green area.
Similarly, lectures, concerts and plays at the Chapel and Billlingg

attract a great many people from the greater Burlington. area to the

Green District.
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TNATIONAL chasrsﬁ VERIFICATION .

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), | hereby nq:r;inate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been
evalusted according to the c-iteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service.*® The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:

1 hereby certify that this property is included in the
Netiona!l Register.
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The district boundary description was prepared by H. G. Abbott
for the Administratlve Resources Department of the University

of Vermont.
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Burlington ‘ |
STATE: . copE COUNTY: ) cope
Vermont 50 Chittenden 907 |
[3 MAP REFERENCE ‘ :
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3ite Plan Map :
se AL I Iinch = 200 Téelt™ % )
oaTe: 1971 1
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[ 3. Latitude ond longitude reference. ,
- )
INT: 15872
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SOURCE:

U.S,G3.S. Quadrangle, 7.5 minute series, Burlington, Vt,
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